

# **Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company**

International Financial Reporting Standards Separate Financial Statements and Independent Auditors' Report

**31 December 2019** 

# **CONTENTS**

Independent Auditors' Report

Separate Financial Statements

Separa	ate Statement of Financial Position	1
Separa	ate Statement of Profit or Loss and Comprehensive Income	2
Separa	ate Statement of Changes in Equity	3
Separa	ate Statement of Cash Flows	4
Notes	to the Separate Financial Statements	
1	Introduction	5
2	Basis of preparation	
3	Summary of significant accounting policies	
4	Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies	
5	Financial risk review	
6	Cash and cash equivalents	
7	Investment securities	22
8	Loans to subsidiaries	22
9	Investment in subsidiaries	24
10	Debt securities issued	
11	Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	27
12	Share capital	28
13	Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	28
14	Interest expense	
15	Dividend income	29
16	Impairment (loss)/recovery on financial assets, net	29
17	Other operating (expense)/income, net	29
18	Other financial expense	29
19	Administrative expenses	30
20	Income tax benefit	
21	Financial risk management	
22	Contingencies	
23	Related party transactions	34
24	Fair value	36
25	Analysis by segment	
26	Subsequent events	37



«КПМГ Аудит» жауапкершілігі шектеулі серіктестік Қазақстан A25D6T5 Алматы, Достық д-лы 180, Тел./факс 8 (727) 298-08-98, 298-07-08 KPMG Audit LLC A25D6T5 Almaty, Kazakhstan 180 Dostyk Avenue, E-mail: company@kpmg.kz

# Independent Auditors' Report

# To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company

# **Opinion**

We have audited the separate financial statements of Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company (the "Holding Company"), which comprise the separate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the unconsolidated financial position of the Holding Company as at 31 December 2019, and its unconsolidated financial performance and its unconsolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

# **Basis for Opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Holding Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the separate financial statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the International Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

# **Key Audit Matters**

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.



# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company

Independent Auditors' Report Page 2

### **Government Grants**

Please refer to the Notes 3 (Government grants), 8, 10, 11 and 17 in the separate financial statements.

### The key audit matter

During 2019 the Holding Company issued unsecured coupon bonds with total nominal value of Tenge 5,751,078 thousand with a coupon rate of 0.15% p.a. and received loans from the Government in the amount of Tenge 94,546,000 thousand with interest rates ranging from 0.05% p.a. to 0.10% p.a. Using the funds received the Holding Company issued loans subsidiaries with total nominal value of Tenge 101,097,078 thousand with interest rates ranging from 0.08% p.a. to 0.20% p.a. At initial recognition these debt securities issued, loans received and loans issued were recognised at fair values measured by applying estimates of relevant market interest rates to discount the contractual future cash flows.

The difference of Tenge 55,584,941 thousand between the fair value and the nominal value of debt securities issued and loans received was recognised as a government grant in other operating income in the separate statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income. The difference of Tenge 56,044,719 thousand between the fair value and the nominal value of loans issued was recognised as a loss at initial recognition of loans to subsidiaries at a below market interest rates in other operating expense in the separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The estimate of the fair value of the debt securities issued, the loans received and loans issued to subsidiaries requires management to exercise significant judgement. Accounting judgements are also required in determining the presentation and classification of the difference between the nominal value and fair value of debt securities issued, loans received and loans issued.

#### How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures included assessing, based on the overall substance of the transaction, whether the difference between consideration received and the fair value of the debt securities issued and loan received represents a government grant, while the difference between consideration paid and the fair value of the loans issued to subsidiaries represents a loss at initial recognition recognised in other operating expense.

We assessed the reasonableness of management's estimates of market rates applied to estimate fair values of the debt securities issued, loans received and loans issued to subsidiaries at below-market rates and compared them to available market information.

We also assessed whether the financial statement disclosures appropriately reflect the information in relation to government grants recognised in the separate financial statements.

# KPMG

# **Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company** Independent Auditors' Report Page 3

# Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Holding Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Holding Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Holding Company's financial reporting process.

### Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
  procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
  expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Holding Company's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Holding Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Holding Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Independent Auditors' Report Page 4

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is:

Assel Urdabayeva Certified Auditor

of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Auditor's Qualification Certificate No. ΜΦ-0000096 of 27 August 2012

#### **KPMG Audit LLC**

State Licence to conduct audit # 0000021 dated 6 December 2006 issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Sergey Deplentyev

General Director of KRMG Audit LLC acting on the basis of the Charter

24 April 2020

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Separate Statement of Financial Position

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Note	31 December 2019	31 December 2018*
ASSETS			
Cash and cash equivalents	6	7,819,807	2,596,755
Investment securities	7	158,795,100	86,938,945
Loans to subsidiaries	8	547,227,387	482,718,492
Investment in subsidiaries	9	982,953,983	891,478,834
Property, plant and equipment		626,150	89,110
Intangible assets		256,797	292,991
Current income tax prepayment		2,014,231	1,682,421
Other assets		232,749	293,441
TOTAL ASSETS		1,699,926,204	1,466,090,989
LIABILITIES			
Debt securities issued	10	530,431,911	435,423,764
Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	11	177,605,273	123,866,691
Deferred income tax liability	20	4,946,478	1,121,863
Other liabilities		1,689,722	1,152,008
TOTAL LIABILITIES		714,673,384	561,564,326
EQUITY			
Share capital	12	917,218,712	846,218,712
Retained earnings	12	68,034,108	58,307,951
TOTAL EQUITY		985,252,820	904,526,663
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		1,699,926,204	1,466,090,989

<sup>\*</sup> The Holding Company has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognised in retained earnings at the date of initial application. See Note 2.

Approved by the Management on 24 April 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

Yersain Yerbulatovich Khamitov

Managing Director, Member of the Management Board

Cury Kuralay Damirovna Yessengarayeva Chief Accountant

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Separate Statement of Profit or Loss and Comprehensive Income

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Note	2019	2018*
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	13	50,280,127	32,381,151
Other interest income		20	21
Interest expense	14	(49,152,769)	(30,112,475)
Net interest income		1,127,378	2,268,697
Dividend income	15	15,605,834	13,990,059
Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary	9	(12,414,417)	, , , -
Impairment recovery/(loss) on financial guarantees	22	22,661	(392,750)
Impairment (loss)/recovery on financial assets, net	16	(33,512)	153,904
Impairment loss on intangible asset		-	(605,137)
Loss on sales of shares in investment in subsidiary	9	-	(403,327)
Other operating (expense)/income, net	17	(420,057)	743,009
Other financial expense	18	(3,733,346)	-
Administrative expenses	19	(4,835,189)	(5,031,791)
(Loss)/profit before income tax		(4,680,648)	10,722,664
Income tax benefit	20	119,646	22,177
(LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR		(4,561,002)	10,744,841

<sup>\*</sup> The Holding Company has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognised in retained earnings at the date of initial application. See Note 2.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Separate Statement of Changes in Equity

Balance at 31 December 2019		917,218,712	68,034,108	985,252,820
3,944,261 thousand	10		15,777,044	15,777,044
modification of terms of debt securities issued, excluding tax effect in the amount of Tenge				
Recognition of the effect of substantial			( , , - ,	( , , , == )
Dividends declared and paid	12	-	(1,485,163)	(1,485,163)
equity Shares issued	12	71,000,000	_	71,000,000
Transactions with owners recorded directly in				
Total comprehensive income for the year		-	(4,561,002)	(4,561,002)
Loss for the year		-	(4,561,002)	(4,561,002)
Restated balance at 1 January 2019		846,218,712	58,303,229	904,521,941
Impact of adopting IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019	2	-	(4,722)	(4,722)
Balance at 31 December 2018*		846,218,712	58,307,951	904,526,663
Total comprehensive income for the year		-	10,744,841	10,744,841
Profit for the year		-	10,744,841	10,744,841
Balance at 1 January 2018		846,218,712	47,563,110	893,781,822
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Note	Share capital	Retained earnings	Total

<sup>\*</sup>The Holding Company has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognised in retained earnings at the date of initial application. See Note 2.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Separate Statement of Cash Flows

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Note	2019	2018
Cash flows from operating activities			
Interest received		10,974,373	3,558,878
Interest received		(5,730,205)	(1,106,737)
Dividends received	15	15,605,834	13,990,059
Staff costs paid	13	(2,018,745)	(1,905,342)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid		(2,548,074)	(3,086,959)
Commission paid for the opening of the cover line for Export		(2,540,074)	(5,000,353)
Credit Guarantee Scheme	18	(3,677,184)	_
Income tax paid	10	(331,810)	(455,428)
——————————————————————————————————————		(331,010)	(433,420)
Net cash flows from operating activities		12,274,189	10,994,471
Cash flows from investing activities			
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment		(70,446)	(58,836)
Contribution to the capital of the subsidiaries	9	(71,000,000)	(20,000,000)
Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiary	9	(71,000,000)	2,000,000
Acquisition of intangible assets	9	(101 912)	(105,499)
Acquisition of investment securities measured at amortised cost		(101,812) (182,820,672)	(86,509,159)
			(60,509,159)
Redemption of investment securities measured at amortised cost		113,226,956	40.050.000
Deposits repayment	0	(447.007.070)	18,350,000
Loans issued to subsidiaries	8	(117,097,078)	(117,686,104)
Repayment of loans issued to subsidiaries	8	666,666	1,621,372
Net cash flows used in investing activities		(257,196,386)	(202,388,226)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from debt securities issued	10	86,751,078	147,848,922
Receipts of loans from the Government of the Republic of	10	00,701,070	147,040,022
Kazakhstan	11	94,546,000	47,537,182
Repayment of loans from the Government of the Republic of		34,340,000	77,007,102
Kazakhstan	11	(666,666)	(1,621,372)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares	12	71,000,000	(1,021,372)
•	12		-
Dividends paid	12	(1,485,163)	-
Net cash flows from financing activities		250,145,249	193,764,732
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		5,223,052	2,370,978
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		2,596,755	2,370,976 225,777
		,,	-, -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	6	7,819,807	2,596,755

<sup>\*</sup>The Holding Company has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated and the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognised in retained earnings at the date of initial application. See Note 2.

#### 1 Introduction

Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company (the "Holding Company") was incorporated in accordance with the Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 22 May 2013 No. 571 "On some measures for optimisation of the management system of development institutes and financial organisations, and development of the national economy" and the Decree of the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 25 May 2013 No. 516 "About measures for implementation of the Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 22 May 2013 No. 571". As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the ultimate controlling party of the Holding Company is the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Holding Company is a direct shareholder of eleven subsidiaries (31 December 2018: eleven).

On 29 May 2013, the Holding Company and "Samruk-Kazyna" National Welfare Fund Joint Stock Company ("Samruk-Kazyna NWF") signed an agreement for the transfer of shares of the Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC (the "DBK JSC"), the Investment Fund of Kazakhstan JSC (the "IFK JSC"), KazExport Export Insurance Company JSC ("KE JSC"), Damu Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC ("Damu EDF JSC"), and Kazyna Capital Management JSC ("KCM JSC") in trust management without a right of subsequent repurchase, pursuant to which the Holding Company acted as a trust manager. During August and October 2013, Samruk-Kazyna NWF transferred shares of the above mentioned entities to the Committee for State Property and Privatisations in exchange for block of shares of other joint stock companies and property.

On 17 June 2013, the Holding Company and Committee for State Property and Privatisations of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the "Committee for State Property and Privatisations") signed an agreement on transfer of government shares of QazTech Ventures JSC ("QTV JSC") (former National Agency for Technological Development JSC ("NATD JSC"), Housing Construction Savings Bank of Kazakhstan JSC ("HCSBK JSC"), Kazakhstan Mortgage Company Mortgage Organisation JSC ("KMC JSC"), Housing Construction Guarantee Fund JSC ("HCGF JSC") and Baiterek Development JSC ("BD JSC") into trust management without a right of subsequent repurchase, pursuant to which the Holding Company acted as a trust manager.

During August and October 2013, the Committee for State Property and Privatisations made contributions to the Holding Company's share capital in the form of blocks of shares of ten above mentioned entities in exchange for the Holding Company's ordinary shares for the total amount of Tenge 632,615,460 thousand and made cash contribution of Tenge 30,486,550 thousand that the Holding Company contributed further to the share capital of DBK JSC and KCM JSC.

On 19 March 2014, the Holding Company jointly with "Kazakhstan Centre of Government-Private Partnership" JSC established "Kazakhstan Project Preparation Fund" LLP ("KPPF LLP"). The Holding Company made a cash contribution of Tenge 150,000 thousand to the charter capital of KPPF LLP amounting to 75.00% interest in KPPF LLP.

In accordance with Order No. 964 of the Committee for State Property and Privatisations of 2 October 2014, the Committee for Investments of the Ministry of Industry and New Technologies of the Republic of Kazakhstan transferred 26.00% of shares of KMC JSC to the Holding Company as a contribution to the share capital. The value of transaction amounted to Tenge 10,216,702 thousand, where the total number of shares of 10,216,701 having nominal value Tenge 1,000 per one share, and 1 share of nominal value Tenge 608 per one share were transferred.

Debt securities issued of the Holding Company are listed on Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (the "KASE").

#### Principal activity

The Holding Company's mission is support of sustainable economic development of the Republic of Kazakhstan in order to implement state policy and achieve the goals set by the "Strategy - 2050".

The Holding Company is actively involved in completing national strategic and social tasks through development institutions through the implementation of Nurly-Zhol State Program for Infrastructure Development in 2015-2019, "Nurly Zher" Housing Construction Program, State Program of the Industrial and Innovative Development of the Republic of Kazakhstan in 2015-2019, Unified Program for Business Support and Development "Business Road Map – 2020", Support Programmes for Local Producers, Support Programmes for Small and Medium Businesses ("SMB"), State Program "Performance - 2020", State Program for Development of Regions until 2020, State Program for Support of Domestic Producers, State Program for Financing of Small and Medium Businesses in Manufacturing Industry, State Program "Leaders of Competitiveness - National Champions", and President of the Republic of Kazakhstan Program "National Plan - 100 Specific Steps".

The Holding Company follows the key Government policies in the area of industrial and innovation development, promotion of national products export, development of small and medium sized entrepreneurship, implementation of tasks in developing housing sector and enhancing the people's welfare, as well as other goals set by the President and Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Below are the major subsidiaries of the Holding Company:

				Ownership, %
	Abbreviated	Country of	31 December	31 December
Name of subsidiary	name	incorporation	2019	2018
Development Bank of Kazakhstan JSC	DBK JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Investment Fund of Kazakhstan JSC	IFK JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
KazakhExport Export Insurance				
Company JSC	KE JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
DAMU Entrepreneurship Development		•		
Fund JSC	Damu EDF JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
QazTech Venture JSC (former National	QTV JSC			
Agency for Technological	(former NATD			
Development JSC)	JSC)	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Kazyna Capital Management JSC	KCM JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Housing Construction Savings Bank of				
Kazakhstan JSC	HCSBK JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Mortgage Organisation Kazakhstan	1100511000	republic of realistent	100.00	100.00
Mortgage Company JSC	KMC.JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Housing Construction Guarantee	Tawo occ	republic of realistati	100.00	100.00
Fund JSC	HCGF JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	100.00
Baiterek Development JSC	BD JSC	Republic of Kazakhstan	100.00	
· •	PD 13C	Republic of Razakristan	100.00	100.00
Kazakhstan Project Preparation Fund	KDDELLD	Daniella of Kanaldastan	07.70	07.70
LLP	KPPF LLP	Republic of Kazakhstan	97.70	97.70

**Registered address and place of business.** The Holding Company's registered address and place of business is: 55a Mangilik Yel Avenue, Yessil district, Nur-Sultan, Republic of Kazakhstan.

**Presentation currency.** These separate financial statements are presented in thousands Kazakhstani Tenge ("Tenge"), unless otherwise stated.

#### Operating environment of the Holding Company

The Holding Company's operations are primarily located in the Republic of Kazakhstan. Consequently, the Holding Company is exposed to the economic and financial markets of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which display emerging-market characteristics. Legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue to develop, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes that, together with other legal and fiscal impediments, contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Republic of Kazakhstan. In addition, the first months of 2020 have seen significant global market turmoil triggered by the outbreak of the coronavirus. Together with other factors, this has resulted in a sharp decrease in the oil price and the stock market indices, as well as a continuing depreciation of the Kazakhstani Tenge. These developments are further increasing the level of uncertainty in the Kazakhstan business environment. The separate financial statements reflect management's assessment of the impact of the Kazakhstan business environment on the operations and separate financial position of the Holding Company. The future business environment may differ from management's assessment.

# 2 Basis of preparation

**Statement of compliance**. These separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

This is the first set of the Holding Company's separate financial statements in which IFRS 16 *Leases* have been applied. Changes to significant accounting policies are described below in Note 2.

In addition, the Holding Company has prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company are available at the Holding Company's office at the address: 55a Mangilik Yel Avenue, Yessil district, Nur-Sultan, Z05T2H3, Republic of Kazakhstan.

Basis of measurement. These separate financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except that financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value.

**Going concern.** Management of the Holding Company has prepared these separate financial statements on a going concern basis.

**Functional and presentation currency.** The functional currency of the Holding Company is the Kazakhstani tenge ("Tenge") as, being the national currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan; it reflects the economic substance of the majority of underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Holding Company.

Tenge is also the presentation currency for the purposes of these separate financial statements.

Financial information presented in Tenge is rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

### Changes in accounting policies and presentation.

The Holding Company has adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019.

#### **IFRS 16 Leases**

IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. As a result, the Holding Company, as a lessee, has recognised right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease payments. Lessor accounting remains similar to previous accounting policies.

The Holding Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach, under which the cumulative effect of initial application is recognised in retained earnings at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018 has not been restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below.

#### Definition of a lease

Previously, the Holding Company determined at contract inception whether an arrangement was or contained a lease under IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease. The Holding Company now assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the new definition of a lease. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Holding Company elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which transactions are leases. It applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

#### As a lessee

The Holding Company leases office space and parking lots at the address - 55a Mangilik Yel Avenue, Yessil district, Nur-Sultan, Z05T2H3, Republic of Kazakhstan.

As a lessee, the Holding Company previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. Under IFRS 16, the Holding Company recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the leases – i.e. these leases are on-balance sheet.

The Holding Company presents right-of-use assets in 'property, plant and equipment' and presents lease liabilities in "other liabilities" in the separate statement of financial position.

#### Transition

Previously, the Holding Company classified lease agreements for office space and parking lots as operating leases under IAS 17. The term for office space and parking lots lease agreement is 4 years.

At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Holding Company's incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at either:

- their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date, discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application; or
- an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.

The Holding Company applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease term when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17.

#### Impacts on financial statements

On transition to IFRS 16, the Holding Company recognised additional right-of-use assets and additional lease liabilities, recognising the difference in retained earnings. The impact on transition is summarised below.

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	1 January 2019
Right-of-use assets presented in property, plant and equipment	724,115
Lease liabilities presented in other liabilities	728,837
Retained earnings	(4,722)

When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the Holding Company discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019. The weighted-average rate applied is 8.50%.

As a result of initially applying IFRS 16, in relation to the leases that were previously classified as operating leases, the Holding Company recognised Tenge 501,912 thousand of right-of-use assets and Tenge 551,036 thousand of lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019.

Also in relation to those leases under IFRS 16, the Holding Company has recognised depreciation and interest costs, instead of operating lease expense. During 2019 the Holding Company recognised Tenge 242,547 thousand of depreciation charges and Tenge 56,162 thousand of interest costs from these leases.

# New amendments and interpretations

A number of new amendments and interpretations are effective from 1 January 2019 but they do not have a material effect on the Holding Company's separate financial statements.

# 3 Summary of significant accounting policies

Except for the changes disclosed in Note 2, the Holding Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these separate financial statements.

#### Interest income and expense

**Effective interest rate.** Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 'effective interest rate' is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

- the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
- · the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Holding Company estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses. For credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected credit losses. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

**Amortised cost and gross carrying amount.** The 'amortised cost' of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The 'gross carrying amount of a financial asset' measured at amortised cost is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.

**Calculation of interest income and expense.** The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.

For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see financial assets and financial liabilities (iv).

**Presentation.** Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Other interest income presented in the separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest income on non-derivative debt financial instruments measured at FVTPL.

Interest expense presented in the separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

#### Financial assets and financial liabilities

# (i) Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPI:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt financial assets measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the following, which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost:

- interest income using the effective interest method;
- · expected credit loss and reversals; and
- foreign exchange gains and losses.

When a debt financial asset measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Holding Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in other comprehensive income. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Holding Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

**Business model assessment.** The Holding Company makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Holding Company's management;
- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
- how managers of the business are compensated e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
- the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Holding Company's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal' is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. 'Interest' is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Holding Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Holding Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

- prepayment and extension terms;
- terms that limit the Holding Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and
- features that modify consideration of the time value of money e.g. periodical reset of interest rates.

**Reclassification.** Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Holding Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

#### Financial liabilities

The Holding Company classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

Reclassification. Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

#### (ii) Derecognition

**Financial assets.** The Holding Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Holding Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Holding Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its separate statement of financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase transactions.

In transactions in which the Holding Company neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Holding Company continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

**Financial liabilities.** The Holding Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.

# (iii) Modification of financial assets and financial liabilities

**Financial assets.** If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Holding Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different (referred to as 'substantial modification'), then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

- fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
- other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

Changes in cash flows on existing financial assets or financial liabilities are not considered as modification, if they result from existing contractual terms.

The Holding Company performs a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is substantial, i.e. whether the cash flows of the original financial asset and the modified or replaced financial asset are substantially different. The Holding Company assesses whether the modification is substantial based on quantitative and qualitative factors in the following order: qualitative factors, quantitative factors, combined effect of qualitative and quantitative factors. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset deemed to have expired. In making this evaluation the Holding Company analogizes to the guidance on the derecognition of financial liabilities.

The Holding Company concludes that the modification is substantial as a result of the following qualitative factors:

- · change the currency of the financial asset;
- change in collateral or other credit enhancement.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Holding Company plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place (see below for write off policy). This approach impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases. The Holding Company further performs qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is substantial.

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition of the financial asset, then the Holding Company first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification: Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset.

For fixed-rate loans, where the borrower has an option to prepay the loan at par without significant penalty, the Holding Company treats the modification of an interest rate to a current market rate using the guidance on floating-rate financial instruments. This means that the effective interest rate is adjusted prospectively.

**Financial liabilities.** The Holding Company derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss. Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new modified financial liability.

The Holding Company performs a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is substantial considering qualitative factors, quantitative factors and combined effect of qualitative and quantitative factors. The Holding Company concludes that the modification is substantial as a result of the following qualitative factors:

- change the currency of the financial liability;
- change in collateral or other credit enhancement;
- inclusion of conversion option;
- change in the subordination of the financial liability.

For the quantitative assessment the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

# (iv) Impairment

See also Note 5.

The Holding Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

- financial assets that are debt instruments;
- financial guarantee contracts issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

The Holding Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

- debt investment securities that are determined to have moderate credit risk at the reporting date; and
- other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition (Note 5).

The Holding Company considers a debt security to have moderate credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of 'investment grade'.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as 'Stage 1' financial instruments.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised are referred to as 'Stage 2' financial instruments (if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, but the financial instruments are not credit-impaired) and 'Stage 3' financial instruments (if the financial instruments are credit-impaired). See also Note 5.

Measurement of ECL. ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Holding Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Holding Company expects to receive);
- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
- *financial guarantee contracts*: the present value of expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Holding Company expects to recover.

See also Note 5.

**Restructured financial assets.** If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows.

- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.
- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets. At each reporting date, the Holding Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Holding Company on terms that the Holding Company would not consider otherwise;
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower's condition is usually considered to be creditimpaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.

**Presentation of allowance for ECL in the separate statement of financial position.** Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the separate statement of financial position as follows:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;
- financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;
- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the separate statement of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve.

**Write-offs.** Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Holding Company determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in 'impairment losses on financial instruments' in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Holding Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

### Investment securities

The 'investment securities' caption in the separate statement of financial position includes:

- debt investment securities measured at amortised cost; these are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method;
- debt investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL or designated as at FVTPL; these are at fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit or loss.

**Financial guarantees and loan commitments.** Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Holding Company to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss that it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when it is due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Financial guarantees issued or commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at the higher of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

The Holding Company has issued no loan commitments that are measured at FVTPL.

For other loan commitments the Holding Company recognises a loss allowance.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within other liabilities.

**Cash and cash equivalents.** Cash and cash equivalents are items which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include all interbank placements and deposits with other banks with original maturities of less than three months. Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are excluded from cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost.

**Loans to subsidiaries.** Loans issued to subsidiaries are recorded when the Holding Company advances money to purchase or originate an unquoted non-derivative receivable due on fixed or determinable dates, and has no intention of trading the receivable. Loans issued to subsidiaries are carried at amortised cost.

**Debt securities issued.** Debt securities issued include bonds issued by the Holding Company in Kazakhstani Tenge. Debt securities issued are stated at amortised cost.

Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan are denominated in Kazakhstani Tenge and measured at amortised cost.

**Trade and other payables.** Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations under the contract and are carried at amortised cost.

Investments in subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Holding Company. The Holding Company controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. In the separate financial statements prepared by the Holding Company investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less impairment. Cost of investments in subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 9.

**Property, plant and equipment.** Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation of premises and equipment and accumulated impairment losses, where required.

Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Costs of replacing major parts or components of property, plant and equipment items are capitalised, and the replaced part is retired.

At the end of each reporting period management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant and equipment. If any such indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, which is determined as the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the period. An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in profit or loss for the period (within other operating income or expenses).

**Depreciation.** Depreciation on other items of premises and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives:

Motor vehicles 5 - 7
Office and computer equipment 2 - 10
Other 3 - 20

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Holding Company would currently obtain from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets. The Holding Company's intangible assets have definite useful life and primarily include capitalised computer software and other licenses acquired. Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. Development costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software controlled by the Holding Company are recorded as intangible assets if the inflow of incremental economic benefits exceeding costs is probable. Capitalised costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. All other costs associated with computer software, e.g. its maintenance, are expensed when incurred.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the following expected useful lives assets:

Software licenses and patents
Software locenses and patents
Internally developed software
Other

Software licenses and patents
3 - 20
1 - 14
2 - 15

#### Leases

#### Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the Holding Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Holding Company uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, on or after 1 January 2019.

#### (i) As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Holding Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Holding Company has elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Holding Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Holding Company by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Holding Company will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Holding Company's incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Holding Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Holding Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee;
- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Holding Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
  payments in an optional renewal period if the Holding Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
  option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Holding Company is reasonably certain not to
  terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Holding Company's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Holding Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Holding Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 'property, plant and equipment' and lease liabilities in 'other liabilities' in the separate statement of financial position.

The Holding Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. The Holding Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### (ii) As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Holding Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

When the Holding Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Holding Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Holding Company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Holding Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Holding Company applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Holding Company applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract.

The Holding Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Holding Company further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

The Holding Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term as part of 'other revenue'.

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Holding Company as a lessor in the comparative period were not different from IFRS 16.

### Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

For contracts entered into before 1 January 2019, the Holding Company determined whether the arrangement was or contained a lease based on the assessment of whether:

- fulfilment of the arrangement was dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
- the arrangement had conveyed a right to use the asset. An arrangement conveyed the right to use the asset if one
  of the following was met:
- the purchaser had the ability or right to operate the asset while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output;
- the purchaser had the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output;
- facts and circumstances indicated that it was remote that other parties would take more than an insignificant amount
  of the output, and the price per unit was neither fixed per unit of output nor equal to the current market price per
  unit of output.

# (i) As a lessee

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Holding Company classified leases that transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership as finance leases. When this was the case, the leased assets were measured initially at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Minimum lease payments were the payments over the lease term that the lessee was required to make, excluding any contingent rent. Subsequent to initial recognition, the assets were accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the Holding Company's separate statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases were recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

# (ii) As a lessor

When the Holding Company acted as a lessor, it determined at lease inception whether each lease was a finance lease or an operating lease. To classify each lease, the Holding Company made an overall assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this was the case, then the lease was a finance lease; if not, then it was an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Holding Company considered certain indicators such as whether the lease was for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

**Income tax.** Income taxes have been provided for in the separate financial statements in accordance with legislation enacted using tax rates and provision of law or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The income tax charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss for the year, except if it is recognised in comprehensive income or directly in equity because it relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a different period, in comprehensive income or directly in equity.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to, or recovered from, the taxation authorities in respect of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable income or losses are based on estimates where the separate financial statements are authorised prior to the filing of the relevant tax return. Taxes other than on income are recorded within administrative expenses.

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilised.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.

**Uncertain tax positions.** The Holding Company's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each reporting period. Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more likely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions of the Holding Company were to be challenged by the tax authorities. The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and any known court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period.

**Government grants.** Government grants are assistance by the Government, Government agencies and state-owned entities in the form of transfers of resources to the Holding Company in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the Holding Company. Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Holding Company will comply with the conditions attached to them and the grants will be received. If there are conditions that may require repayment, the grant is recognised in other liabilities.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant. The benefit of the below-market rate of interest is measured as the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan and the proceeds received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Holding Company recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

**Provisions for liabilities and charges.** Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Holding Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

**Share capital.** Ordinary shares, not subject to mandatory redemption, with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity.

**Income and expense recognition.** Interest income and expense are recorded for all debt instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. This method defers, as part of interest income or expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing transaction documents. Commitment fees received by the Holding Company to originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective interest rate if it is probable that the Holding Company will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Holding Company does not designate loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

All other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. Loan syndication fees are recognised as income when the syndication has been completed and the Holding Company retains no part of the loan package for itself, or retains a part at the same effective interest rate as for the other participants.

**Foreign currency translation.** The functional currency and presentation currency of the Holding Company is the national currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Kazakhstani Tenge.

**Staff costs and related contributions.** Wages, salaries, contributions to the state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Holding Company. The Holding Company has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or similar benefit payments beyond the payments to the statutory defined contribution scheme.

**Presentation of the separate statement of financial position in order of liquidity.** The Holding Company does not have a clearly identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and non-current assets and liabilities separately in the separate statement of financial position. Instead, analysis of assets and liabilities by their expected and contractual maturities are presented in Note 21.

#### Standards issued but not yet effective

The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact on the Holding Company's separate financial statements.

- Determination of business (amendments to IFRS 3).
- Determination of meaning "significant" (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8).
- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

# 4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Holding Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the separate financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

Tax legislation. Kazakhstani tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations (Note 22).

Initial recognition of the borrowings and investments at the rates below market rates under the state development programs. Approach to accounting and evaluation of borrowings and loans to subsidiaries made under state programs of the economic development in 2019 is disclosed in Notes 8, 10 and 11.

*Initial recognition of related party transactions.* In the normal course of business the Holding Company enters into transactions with its related parties. IFRS 9 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their fair values. Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar types of transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis.

**Impairment of financial instruments.** Assessment of whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and incorporation of forward-looking information in the measurement of ECL – Note 5.

**Impairment of investments in subsidiaries.** Management of the Holding Company assesses the presence of any impairment indicators of investments in subsidiaries as at each reporting date. Management uses its judgments for calculation of recoverable amount of investments which is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Details are disclosed in Note 9.

# 5 Financial risk review

This note presents information about the Holding Company's exposure to financial risks. For information on the Holding Company's financial risk management framework – see Note 21.

#### Credit risk - Amounts arising from ECL

Significant increase in credit risk. When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Holding Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Holding Company's historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Holding Company uses three criteria for determining whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk:

- quantitative test based on movement in probability of default (PD);
- qualitative indicators; and
- backstop of 30 days past due.

**Credit risk grades.** The Holding Company allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower.

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition based on available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade. The monitoring typically involves use of the following data.

Data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in external credit ratings;

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

- Payment record this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment ratios;
- Requests for and granting of forbearance;
- Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and economic conditions.

**Generating the term structure of PD.** Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Holding Company collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analysed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. For some portfolios, information purchased from external credit reference agencies is also used.

To determine the internal credit rating of a counterparty who does not have external credit rating from international agencies Standard & Poor's, Fitch Ratings and Moody's Investors Service, the Holding Company uses expert judgment to determine ratings with taking into account the specific characteristics of the counterparty, consisting of 10 categories, such as profitability, liquidity, leverage, country risk, industry characteristics, specifics activities of the enterprise, risk of concentration, legal regulation, internal data and debt.

The Holding Company uses expert judgment in assessment of forward-looking information. This assessment is based also on external information. The Holding Company then uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.

**Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly.** The Holding Company assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting period. Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument. The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by portfolio and include quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a backstop based on delinquency.

The Holding considers credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition, if the issuer's credit rating decreased by 2 points and more since initial recognition.

Using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Holding Company may determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. As a backstop, the Holding Company considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any grace period that might be available to the borrower.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency of forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases the Holding Company determines a probation period during which the financial asset is required to demonstrated good behavior to provide evidence that its credit risk has declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met includes history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified contractual terms.

The Holding Company monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that:

- the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default;
- the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due;
- the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable;
- exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement (stage 1) to credit-impaired (stage 3); and
- there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month ECL (stage 1) and lifetime ECL measurements (stage 2).

Definition of default. The Holding Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Holding Company in full, without recourse by the Holding Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
- the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Holding Company; or
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the borrower's inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Holding Company considers the following indicators:

- qualitative (e.g. bankruptcy of a counterparty);
- quantitative (a decrease in the credit rating to D); and
- other information obtained from internal and external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements – 31 December 2019

**Modified financial assets.** The contractual terms of a financial instrument may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market conditions, and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the counterparty. An existing financial asset whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated asset recognised as a new financial asset at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3(iii).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination of whether the asset's credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

- its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with
- the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognised and allocated to Stage 1 (assuming it is not creditimpaired at that time).

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (Note 3(iv)) /in default). A counterparty needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Incorporating forward-looking information. The Holding Company incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Holding Company uses expert judgment in assessment of forward-looking information. This assessment is based also on external information. External information may include economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities in the countries where the Holding Company operates, such as the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Statistics Committee of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Holding Company will also periodically carry out stress-testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative scenarios.

The Holding Company has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-economic variable and credit risk and credit losses. GDP growth forecasts were defined by the Holding Company as a key driver.

Predicted relationships between the key indicator and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on data from external provider.

Measurement of ECLs. The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

- probability of default (PD);
- loss given default (LGD);
- exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading "Generating the term structure of PD".

The Holding Company estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. LGD is equal to 70%, if a counterparty is the Kazakhstani bank.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Holding Company derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For lending commitments, the EAD is potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the guarantee exposure when the financial guarantee becomes payable.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Holding Company measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower's extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Holding Company considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Holding Company has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.

External benchmark information is used by the Holding Company to supplement the internally available data. The portfolios for which external benchmark information represents a significant input into measurement of ECL are as follows.

	_	External benchmarks used		
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	An exposure as at 31 December 2019	PD	LGD	
Investment securities Loans to subsidiaries	158,764,046 547,227,387	S&P default study	Moody's recovery studies/ for exposures within Kazakhstan, LGD is based on historical recovery studies of defaulted	
Financial guarantee liabilities	142,650,250		financial institutions.	

**Credit quality analysis.** The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost. Unless specially indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.

	31 December 2019			
	Stage 1	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL not credit-	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL credit-	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	12-month ECL	impaired	impaired	Total
Cash and cash equivalents				
National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan -	07.700			07.700
unrated BB- to BB+ rated	27,790	-	-	27,790
B- to B+ rated B- to B+ rated	7,790,040 547	-	-	7,790,040 547
unrated	1,430	-	-	_
uniated	7,819,807			1,430 <b>7,819,807</b>
Loss allowance	7,019,007	-	-	7,019,007
	7,819,807	-	<u> </u>	7,819,807
Carrying amount Loans to subsidiaries	1,019,001	-	-	1,019,001
With externally rated credit risk				
rated BBB-	267,842,935	39,836,993	_	307,679,928
rated BB+	3,373,732	81,129,675	_	84,503,407
With internally rated credit risk	0,010,102	01,120,070		04,000,407
rated BBB-	160,358,880	_	_	160,358,880
	431,575,547	120,966,668	-	552,542,215
Loss allowance	(889,293)	(4,425,535)	-	(5,314,828)
Carrying amount	430,686,254	116,541,133	-	547,227,387
Investment securities at amortised cost				
With externally rated credit risk				
Notes of National Bank of the Republic of				
Kazakhstan - unrated	13,511,072	-	-	13,511,072
rated BBB-	77,746,676	-	-	77,746,676
With internally rated credit risk				
rated BBB-	67,818,889	-	-	67,818,889
	159,076,637	-	-	159,076,637
Loss allowance	(312,591)	-	-	(312,591)
Carrying amount	158,764,046	-	-	158,764,046
Financial guarantee contracts				
rated BBB-	86,082,750	-	-	86,082,750
rated BB	56,567,500	-	-	56,567,500
	142,650,250	-	-	142,650,250
Loss allowance	(370,089)	-	-	(370,089)
Carrying amount	370,089	-	-	370,089

	31 December 2018			
		Stage 2 Lifetime ECL	Stage 3 Lifetime ECL	
	Stage 1	not credit-	credit-	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	12-month ECL	impaired	impaired	Total
Cash and cash equivalents	12 111011111 202	paou	pun-ou	
National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan -				
unrated	1,675	_	-	1,675
BB- to BB+ rated	2,593,620	-	-	2,593,620
B- to B+ rated	625	-	-	625
unrated	835	-	-	835
	2,596,755	-	-	2,596,755
Loss allowance	-	-	-	-
Carrying amount	2,596,755	-	-	2,596,755
Loans to subsidiaries	•			· ·
With externally rated credit risk				
rated BBB-	209,262,518	37,502,471	-	246,764,989
rated BB+	· · ·	76,392,378	-	76,392,378
With internally rated credit risk		, ,		
rated BBB-	165,155,032	-	-	165,155,032
	374,417,550	113,894,849	-	488,312,399
Loss allowance	(883,176)	(4,710,731)	-	(5,593,907)
Carrying amount	373,534,374	109,184,118	-	482,718,492
Investment securities at amortised cost	•	· ·		· ·
Notes of National Bank of the Republic of				
Kazakhstan - unrated	9,161,104	-	-	9,161,104
rated BBB-	77,746,676	-	-	77,746,676
	86,907,780	-	-	86,907,780
Loss allowance	-	-	-	-
Carrying amount	86,907,780	-	-	86,907,780
Financial guarantee contracts				
rated BBB-	86,445,000	-	-	86,445,000
rated BB	56,567,500	-	-	56,567,500
	143,012,500	-	-	143,012,500
Loss allowance	(392,750)	-	-	(392,750)
Carrying amount	392,750	-	-	392,750
6 Cash and cash equivalents	322,. 33	31	December	31 December
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)			2019	2018
Current accounts			7,819,807	2,596,755
Total cash and cash equivalents			7,819,807	2,596,755

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances may be summarised based on Standard and Poor's ratings or Moody's or Fitch ratings as follows:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Neither past due nor impaired		
- NBRK – unrated	27,790	1,675
- BB- to BB+ rated	7,790,040	2,593,620
- B- to B+ rated	547	625
- unrated	1,430	835
Total cash and cash equivalents	7,819,807	2,596,755

Interest rate analysis of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 21.

#### 7 Investment securities

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Investment securities measured at amortised cost		
-Debt obligations of BD JSC	67,818,889	-
-Debt obligations of HCSBK JSC	57,730,709	57,730,709
-Debt obligations of KMC JSC	20,015,967	20,015,967
-Notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan	13,511,072	9,161,104
Impairment allowance	(312,591)	-
Total investment securities measured at amortised cost	158,764,046	86,907,780
Investment securities measured at fair value through profit or loss		
-Debt obligations of Special Financial Company "DSFK" LLP	31,054	31,165
Total investment securities	158,795,100	86,938,945

In June and August 2019, the Holding Company purchased unsecured coupon bonds of BD JSC with nominal value of Tenge 40,000,000 thousand and Tenge 25,000,000 thousand, respectively, with coupon rates of 9.75% p.a. and 10.0% p.a., respectively, and with maturity in 2029 to provide financing for further expansion of mortgage investment projects. The funds received by BD JSC were used for purchase of 65,000,000 bonds issued by Novacom Corporation LLC ("Partner") at the value of Tenge 1,000 per one bond, which mature in 2029 in order to finance an investment project for the purchase, development of land plots with a total area of 202 hectares located in Almaty, Turksib district, Kairat village, through the repurchase of Partner bonds.

In December 2018 the Holding Company purchased unsecured coupon bonds of HCSBK JSC and KMC JSC with nominal value of Tenge 57,700,000 thousand and Tenge 20,000,000 thousand, respectively, with coupon rates of 9.58% p.a. and maturity in 2033 to provide financing for further expansion of mortgage lending.

During year ended 31 December 2019 the Holding Company purchased notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the amount of Tenge 117,820,672 thousand (2018: Tenge 8,809,159 thousand) and the notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the amount of Tenge 113,226,956 thousand matured during 2019.

Interest rate analysis of investment securities is disclosed in Note 21.

# 8 Loans to subsidiaries

	Nominal value		Carrying	amount
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	31 December 2019	31 December 2018	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
- DBK JSC - BD JSC - DAMU EDF JSC - KMC JSC - HCSBK JSC	616,044,987 353,095,125 216,800,000 132,470,920 22,000,000	521,498,987 347,344,047 200,000,000 132,470,920 22,000,000	272,573,006 160,358,880 84,503,407 28,466,442 6,640,480	213,828,911 165,155,032 76,392,378 26,753,934 6,182,144
Gross loans to subsidiaries Less: impairment allowance	1,340,411,032	1,223,313,954	552,542,215 (5,314,828)	488,312,399 (5,593,907)
Total loans to subsidiaries	1,340,411,032	1,223,313,954	547,227,387	482,718,492

In 2019, the Holding Company provided loans to subsidiaries in the total amount of Tenge 117,097,078 thousand (in 2018: Tenge 117,686,104 thousand). The loans bear interest rates of 0.08% - 0.20% p.a. and mature in 2024-2039 (in 2018: interest rate of 0.08% - 0.20% p.a. and mature in 2026-2038). During 2019 the Holding Company has received Tenge 666,666 thousand of principal payment in accordance with repayment schedule.

In accordance with approved government programs, in 2019 the loans were provided on the following terms and conditions, including contractual interest rates as noted below:

- Tenge 10,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the contractual interest rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 18 years for on-lending Tenge 8,000,000 thousand for crediting the buyers of passenger cars produced in Kazakhstan, and Tenge 2,000,000 thousand for leasing financing of entities and individual entrepreneurs who buy transport and equipment of special purpose except for agricultural equipment produced in Kazakhstan;
- Tenge 14,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.20% p.a. for 8 years to provide long-term leasing in the frame of state program of support and development of the business "Road Map of the Business 2020";
- Tenge 16,000,000 thousand loan to DAMU EDF JSC at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 15 years for enforcement of liabilities of DAMU EDF JSC to DBK JSC under the bond repurchase agreement;

- Tenge 5,751,078 thousand loan to BD JSC at the rate of 0.20% p.a. and with maturity in 7 years for further redemption of Local's Executive Body's bonds for apartments construction in Nur-Sultan and Almaty and to finance uncompleted objects of civil construction;
- Tenge 23,546,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 10 years for financing the project "Saryarka Gas main";
- Tenge 11,258,900 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.08% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.10% p.a. to finance the renovation of Fleet of passenger cars of "Passenger Transportation" JSC;
- Tenge 18,742,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.08% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.10% p.a. to provide financing for renovation of fleet of passenger cars of "Passenger Transportation" JSC;
- Tenge 11,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 19 years for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.15% p.a. for 19 years to finance the investment projects within the framework of State program of industrial-innovative development of RK for 2015-2019 years;
- Tenge 6,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.20% p.a. for 8 years to provide long-term leasing financing within the framework of State program of support and development of the business "Business Road Map 2020":
- Tenge 800,000 thousand loan to DAMU EDF JSC at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 5 years for provision of loans to subjects of small and medium-sized businesses suffered in Arys city.

In accordance with approved government programs, in 2018 the loans were provided on the following terms and conditions:

- Tenge 10,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 9 years for on-lending DBK-Leasing JSC at an interest rate of 0.20% p.a. and maturity of 9 years to provide long-term lease financing under the Unified Program for Business Support and Development "Business Road Map 2020";
- Tenge 10,600,000 thousand loan to BD JSC at the rate of 0.20% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years to purchase debt securities issued by the local executive authorities of the regions (cities of Nur-Sultan and Almaty) for the purpose of construction of the housing real estate and its further purchase;
- Tenge 13,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 15 years for on-lending DBK-Leasing JSC at an interest rate of 0.20% p.a. and maturity of 15 years to provide long-term financing for leasing agricultural vehicles;
- Tenge 12,000,000 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years to finance projects under the State Industrial and Innovation Development Program of the Republic of Kazakhstan:
- Tenge 15,004,300 thousand loan to BD JSC at the rate of 0.20% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years to purchase debt securities issued by the local executive authorities of the regions (cities of Nur-Sultan and Almaty) for the purpose of construction of the housing real estate and its further purchase;
- Tenge 12,537,182 thousand loan to DBK JSC at the rate of 0.08% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years for on-lending DBK-Leasing JSC at an interest rate of 0.10% p.a. and maturity of 20 years to renovate the passenger car fleet of "Passenger transportation" JSC;
- Tenge 44,544,622 thousand loan to BD JSC at the rate of 0.20% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years to purchase debt securities issued by the local executive authorities of the regions (cities of Nur-Sultan and Almaty) for the purpose of construction of the housing real estate and its further purchase.

The Holding Company uses the following assumptions to estimate the market interest rates for determination of the fair value of financial instruments:

- Yield on long-term bonds issued by the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan;
- The credit risk premium of the Republic of Kazakhstan:
- The credit risk premium of the counterparty or the Holding Company.

At initial recognition the loans were recognised at fair value measured by applying relevant market interest rates varying from 8.54% to 12.84% p.a. (in 2018: from 8.42% to 9.14% p.a.) to discount their future cash flows. The Holding Company recognised a difference of Tenge 56,044,719 thousand (in 2018: Tenge 56,738,188 thousand) between the fair value and the nominal value as a loss, at initial recognition of loans provided to subsidiaries at below-market interest rates and reported the difference in profit or loss. These loans were financed through bonds issued by the Holding Company and loans from the republican budget denominated in Tenge at interest rates varying from 0.08% to 0.20% p.a. (in 2018: from 0.05% to 0.15% p.a.) maturing in 2024-2039 (2018: maturing in 2024-2038) (Notes 10 and 11). The differences of Tenge 2,505,198 thousand (in 2018: Tenge 31,170,408 thousand) and Tenge 53,079,743 thousand (in 2018: Tenge 26,291,607 thousand) between the fair value at initial recognition and nominal value of bonds and loans from the government of the Republic of Kazakhstan were therefore, recognised in profit or loss as a government grant to correspond with the Holding Company's loss on initial recognition of loans to subsidiaries (Note 17).

The Holding Company recognised a difference of Tenge 13,283,684 thousand between the estimated fair value and nominal value as a discount, at initial recognition of loans provided to DAMU EDF JSC at a below-market interest rates and recognised the difference in the amount as investment in subsidiaries (Note 9).

In June 2019 the Holding Company and BD JSC have revised maturity terms for two long-term loans issued in 2014-2015 by the Holding Company to subsidiary for financing of Expo-2017 projects at a rate of 0.15% p.a. (below market rate). Upon initial recognition of these loans, the Holding Company estimated the expected maturity in 2020–2022 and recognized these loans at fair value using market rates of 5.40% p.a. and 5.93% p.a. to discount the contractual future cash flows. In 2019 the Holding Company updated its expectations on the possibility of early repayment of loans, taking into account the recommendations of the Commission for the control of the usage of funds allocated by the National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The new expected repayment schedules for these loans are based on the repayment schedules that will come from the sale of real estate. The Holding Company has treated these changes as a material modification, which resulted in the derecognition of existing financial instruments and recognition of new financial instruments at fair value using estimated market interest rates at the substantial modification date of 8.76% p.a. and 8.70% p.a. The difference between the carrying value of the loans to the subsidiary and the fair value of new loans in the amount of Tenge 19,605,882 thousand was recognised as an increase in the asset value in the 'Investment in subsidiaries' caption (Note 9).

During 2018, KMC JSC has made early partial repayment of the loan in the amount of Tenge 1,621,372 thousand and the Holding Company in turn has partially repaid the loan to the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The difference of Tenge 1,164,494 thousand between the initial net present values of the loan provided to subsidiary before early partial repayment and the new net present value after early partial repayment has been recognised in profit or loss as a gain from early repayment of loans issued to subsidiaries (Note 17). The difference of Tenge 1,178,761 thousand between the initial net present values of the loan received from the Government before early partial repayment and the new net present value after early partial repayment has been recognised in profit or loss as a loss from early repayment of loans received from the Government (Note 17).

Movements in the loans to subsidiaries impairment allowance by ECL stages for 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

	2019			
	Stage 1	Stage 2		
	12-month	Lifetime ECL not		
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	ECL	credit-impaired	Total	
Balance at the beginning of the year	883,176	4,710,731	5,593,907	
(Recovery)/accrual (Note 16)	6,117	(285,196)	(279,079)	
Balance at the end of the year	889,293	4,425,535	5,314,828	

	2018		
	Stage 1 12-month	Stage 2 Lifetime ECL not	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	ECL	credit-impaired	Total
Balance at the beginning of the period	-	-	-
Effect of initial application of IFRS 9	667,382	4,699,691	5,367,073
Accrual (Note 16)	215,794	11,040	226,834
Balance at the end of the period	883,176	4,710,731	5,593,907

# 9 Investment in subsidiaries

The table below summarises the movements in the carrying amount of the Holding Company's investment in subsidiaries in 2019:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	1 January 2019	Contribution	Impairment	31 December 2019
Carrying amount:				
DBK JSC	388,515,793	37,000,000	-	425,515,793
KCM JSC	104,696,686	-	-	104,696,686
HCSBK JSC	95,159,603	-	-	95,159,603
DAMU EDF JSC	78,925,794	13,283,684	-	92,209,478
KE JSC	40,918,407	34,000,000	-	74,918,407
BD JSC	47,732,078	19,605,882	-	67,337,960
IFK JSC	44,339,971	-	(12,414,417)	31,925,554
KMC JSC	43,682,233	-	-	43,682,233
QTV JSC (former NATD JSC)	23,129,805	-	-	23,129,805
HCGF JSC	22,228,464	-	-	22,228,464
KPPF LLP	2,150,000	-	-	2,150,000
Total investment in subsidiaries	891,478,834	103,889,566	(12,414,417)	982,953,983

During 2019 the Holding Company has made capital contribution investments in cash to subsidiaries DBK JSC in the amount of Tenge 37,000,000 thousand and KE JSC in the amount of Tenge 34,000,000 thousand. The Holding Company provided a low-interest loan to DAMU EDF JSC for the amount of Tenge 16,000,000 thousand and the initial discount in the amount of Tenge 13,283,684 thousand has been recognised as investment in subsidiary (Note 8). The Holding Company recognised the effect modification of repayment terms of 2 loans issued to BD JSC in 2014-2015 in the amount Tenge 19,605,882 thousand as investment in subsidiary (Note 8).

The Holding Company uses its own experience and judgments to assess provision for impairment of investments in subsidiaries. For the investments in subsidiaries, whose assets are measured predominantly at fair value, management believes that adjusted net assets is the most appropriate technique for estimation of the recoverable amount of the investments at the reporting date. The investment in subsidiaries with fair values determined using valuation techniques that use unobservable inputs were classified into Level 3.

During 2019 the Holding Company has assessed recoverable value of investments in subsidiaries and recognised an impairment loss on its investment in IFK JSC in the amount Tenge 12,414,417 thousand as the difference between the carrying amount of investment and the adjusted net assets of IFK JSC. The assets of IFK JSC is mainly represented by financial assets and by assets held for sale, accordingly the fair value of the net assets of IFK JSC does not differ significantly from the carrying amount.

The table below summarises the movements in the carrying amount of the Holding Company's investment in subsidiaries in 2018:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	1 January 2018	Contribution	Sale	31 December 2018
Carrying amount:				
DBK JSC	378,515,793	10,000,000	-	388,515,793
KCM JSC	104,696,686	<u>-</u>	-	104,696,686
HCSBK JSC	95,159,603	-	-	95,159,603
DAMU EDF JSC	78,925,794	-	-	78,925,794
BD JSC	47,732,078	-	-	47,732,078
IFK JSC	34,339,971	10,000,000	-	44,339,971
KMC JSC	43,682,233	-	-	43,682,233
KE JSC	40,918,407	-	-	40,918,407
QTV JSC (former NATD JSC)*	25,533,132	-	(2,403,327)	23,129,805
HCGF JSC	22,228,464	-	<u>-</u>	22,228,464
KPPF LLP	2,150,000	-	<u>-</u>	2,150,000
Total investment in subsidiaries	873,882,161	20,000,000	(2,403,327)	891,478,834

<sup>\*</sup>On 26 December 2018 the Holding Company has sold shares of QTV JSC (former NATD JSC) in the quantity of 2,403,327 ordinary shares with the nominal value of Tenge 1,000 per share and at the book value of 1 common share of Tenge 832. Due to the fact that the sales price was lower than the carrying value of the shares, the Holding Company has recognised loss on sales of shares in QTV JSC (former NATD JSC) in the amount of Tenge 403,327 thousand.

#### 10 Debt securities issued

(In thousands of K	azakhstani Ter	nge)		Nominal value	Ca	arrying amount
	Placement	Maturity	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December
	date	date	2019	2018	2019	2018
KZ2C0Y20F251	25.03.2016	25.03.2036	202,000,000	202,000,000	66,146,402	61,835,624
KZP01Y20E920	13.03.2015,					
	31.03.2015	13.03.2035	170,000,000	170,000,000	65,470,500	61,549,827
KZ2C0Y20E676	15.04.2014	15.04.2034	100,000,000	100,000,000	41,154,826	38,711,102
KZ2C0Y20E775	10.12.2014	10.12.2034	100,000,000	100,000,000	39,592,832	37,249,114
KZ2C0Y15G093						
(listed)	20.12.2018	27.12.2033	77,700,000	77,700,000	81,452,263	77,782,017
KZPO4M87F618	28.12.2018,					
	21.01.2019	12.03.2026	50,295,700	44,544,622	30,804,829	25,246,220
KZ2C0Y20E742	30.10.2014	30.10.2034	50,000,000	50,000,000	19,563,509	18,382,517
KZ2C00006088						
(listed)	28.06.2019	28.06.2029	40,000,000	-	41,921,111	-
KZ2C00006203						
(listed)	29.08.2019	28.08.2029	25,000,000	-	25,826,042	-
KZP01Y20E730	15.07.2014	15.07.2034	23,000,000	23,000,000	19,175,385	21,806,475
KZP01Y30E879	21.01.2015,					
	16.02.2015	21.01.2045	92,500,000	92,500,000	18,619,962	17,513,584
KZP02Y20E738	26.03.2015	30.06.2022	38,095,125	38,095,125	17,123,287	31,292,745
KZ05VHA000005						
29 (listed)	12.06.2019	10.06.2022	16,000,000	-	16,085,067	-
KZP01Y09F615	19.10.2017	29.03.2026	21,100,000	21,100,000	12,469,501	11,469,544
KZPO3M89F616	16.10.2018	12.03.2026	15,004,300	15,004,300	8,835,917	8,117,696
KZPO2M92F612	12.07.2018	12.03.2026	10,600,000	10,600,000	6,493,410	6,002,970
KZP02Y20E928	29.09.2015	29.09.2035	15,000,000	15,000,000	5,512,678	5,178,889
KZ2C0Y20F236	03.02.2016	03.02.2036	15,000,000	15,000,000	5,283,854	4,958,080
KZP02Y30E877	29.01.2016	29.01.2046	22,500,000	22,500,000	4,628,911	4,367,947
KZP03Y20E736	09.03.2016	09.03.2036	15,000,000	15,000,000	4,271,625	3,959,413
			1,098,795,125	1,012,044,047	530,431,911	435,423,764

Debt securities issued (KZ2C00006088, KZ2C00006203) in 2019 and (KZ2C0Y15G093) in December 2018 are listed on the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (the "KASE"). As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the remaining Holding Company's debt securities issued are not listed.

In 2019, the Holding Company issued bonds for the total amount of Tenge 86,751,078 thousand:

- unsecured coupon bonds with total nominal value of Tenge 40,000,000 thousand and of Tenge 25,000,000 thousand issued with a coupon rate of 9.50% p.a. and 9.75% p.a. respectively which mature in 2029. The funds were used to finance purchase of debt securities issued of BD JSC;
- unsecured coupon bonds with nominal value of Tenge 16,000,000 thousand issued with a coupon rate of 9.57% p.a. and maturity in 2022. The funds were be used to provide a low interest loan as a financial support to subsidiary DAMU EDF JSC.
- unsecured coupon bonds with nominal value of Tenge 5,751,078 thousand issued with a coupon rate of 0.15% p.a. and maturity in 2026. The funds were used to finance purchase of debt securities issued by the local executive authorities of the regions (cities of Nur-Sultan and Almaty) for the purpose of construction of the housing real estate and its further purchase.

In 2018, the Holding Company issued the bonds for the total amount of Tenge 147,848,922 thousand:

- unsecured coupon bonds with total nominal value of Tenge 70,148,922 thousand issued with a coupon rate of 0.15% p.a. which mature in 8 years. The funds were used to finance purchase of debt securities issued by the local executive authorities of the regions (cities of Nur-Sultan and Almaty) for the purpose of construction of the housing real estate and its further purchase;
- unsecured coupon bonds with nominal value of Tenge 77,700,000 thousand issued with a coupon rate of 9.50% p.a. and maturity in 2033. The funds were used to finance purchase of debt securities issued by the HCSBK JSC and KMC JSC to finance existing and new programs of HCSBK JSC and to issue mortgage loans through second tier banks.

Debt securities (KZ2C00006088 and KZ2C00006203) issued during 2019 were acquired by Unified Accumulative Pension Fund JSC and State Fund of Social Insurance JSC. Moreover, debt securities (KZ05VHA00000529) issued with the nominal amount of Tenge 16,000,000 thousand have been acquired by the subsidiary HCSBK JSC on a market terms.

Debt securities (KZ2C0Y15G093) issued during 2018 were acquired by Unified Accumulative Pension Fund JSC, State Fund of Social Insurance JSC, Kazakhstan Deposit Insurance Fund JSC and "Nomad Life" Life Insurance Company JSC.

All other bonds issued in 2019 and 2018 were acquired in full by NBRK.

As a part of implementation of programs of state support and development, the Management Council of the National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan sets conditions of financing in the form of interest rates, financing schedule and related requirements for both the Holding Company, its subsidiaries, commercial banks as the agents of the programs as well as for the ultimate recipients of the funds. In addition, the Government has approved special conditions, under which the Holding Company's subsidiaries may provide further financing to commercial banks and companies. For this reason, the difference that had arisen upon valuation of bonds purchased by the NBRK with KZPO4M87F618 (2018: KZPO4M87F618, KZPO3M89F616 and KZPO2M92F612) using proceeds of the National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan in 2019 at fair value at the issue date, was recognised as a government grant, also taking into account that the NBRK acted as the state agent and not in the interests of the Holding Company's ultimate shareholder, since all terms of the loans had been agreed on at the Government level in the decree concerning the financing of the abovementioned programs, and the Government as the Holding Company's shareholder does not expect that direct economic benefits will be available to it, as the ultimate beneficiaries of the benefits are the recipient entities under the programs. Thus, in 2019 the Holding Company reported income of Tenge 2,505,198 thousand (2018: Tenge 31,170,408 thousand) as the government grant, which was recognised in other operating income in the separate statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income (Note 17). The Holding Company applied the market interest rates from 8.54% to 9.75% p.a. (2018: from 8.42% to 9.14% p.a.) to determine the fair value of issued bonds upon initial recognition.

In June 2019 the Holding Company has revised maturity terms for two debt securities (KZP01Y20E730 and KZP02Y20E73) issued in 2014-2015 to finance Expo-2017 projects at a rate of 0.15% p.a. (below market rate) through BD JSC. Upon initial recognition of these debt securities issued, the Holding Company estimated the expected maturity in 2020–2022 and recognized these debt securities issued at fair value using estimated market rates of 5.41% p.a. and 5.93% p.a. In 2019 the Holding Company updated its expectations on the repayment of debt securities issued, taking into account the recommendations of the Commission for the control of the usage of funds allocated by the National Fund of the Republic of Kazakhstan. The new expected repayment schedules for debt securities issued are based on the more extended repayment schedules that will come from the sale of real estate, and the contractual terms of debt securities have been revised accordingly. The Holding Company has treated these extensions in the repayment period as a material modification, which resulted in the derecognition of the existing financial liability and recognition of new financial instruments at fair value using market rates at the substantial modification date of 8.76% p.a. and 8.70% p.a. The difference between the carrying value of old financial liability and the fair value of new financial liability in the amount of Tenge 19,721,305 thousand (excluding tax effect of Tenge 3,944,261 thousand) was recognized as a contribution in retained earnings for the year as the effect of a transaction with the Sole Shareholder, due to the fact that these securities are held by a government entity.

The interest expense of Tenge 35,927,846 thousand incurred during 2019 (in 2018: Tenge 20,547,293 thousand) relates to the debt securities issued (Note 14).

# 11 Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan

	Nominal value			Carrying amount	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	31 December 2019	31 December 2018	31 December 2019	31 December 2018	
Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan	383,515,907	288,969,907	177,605,273	123,866,691	
Total loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	383,515,907	288,969,907	177,605,273	123,866,691	

During 2019, the Holding Company received loans from the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the total amount of Tenge 94,546,000 thousand (2018: Tenge 47,537,182 thousand) and repaid loans from the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan in the total amount of Tenge 666,666 thousand (2018: Tenge 1,621,372 thousand), with the following terms and contractual interest rates:

- a loan of Tenge 14,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding Company's subsidiary DBK JSC for further lending of DBK-Leasing JSC to provide a long-term lease financing under the Unified Program for Business Support and Development "Business Road Map 2020";
- a loan of Tenge 23,546,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 10 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for financing the project "Saryarka Gas main";
- a loan of Tenge 18,741,022 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.05% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.10% p.a. to provide financing for renovation of fleet of passenger cars of "Passenger Transportation" JSC;
- a loan of Tenge 11,258,978 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.05% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.10% p.a. to finance the renovation of Fleet of passenger cars of "Passenger Transportation" JSC;
- a loan of Tenge 11,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 19 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.15% p.a. for 19 years to finance the investment projects within the framework of State program of industrial-innovative development of RK for 2015-2019 years;

- a loan of Tenge 10,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 18 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for on-lending of Tenge 8,000,000 thousand for crediting the buyers of passenger cars produced in Kazakhstan, and Tenge 8,000,000 thousand for leasing financing of entities and individual entrepreneurs, who buy transport and equipment of special purpose except for agricultural equipment produced in Kazakhstan;
- a loan of Tenge 6,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 8 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC for on-lending to DBK-Leasing with 0.20% p.a. for 8 years to provide long-term leasing financing within the framework of State program of support and development of the business "Business Road Map 2020".

During 2018 the following loans have been received:

- a loan of Tenge 10,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 9 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding Company's subsidiary DBK JSC for further lending of DBK-Leasing JSC to provide a long-term lease financing under the Unified Program for Business Support and Development "Business Road Map 2020";
- a loan of Tenge 13,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 15 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 15 years for on-lending DBK-Leasing JSC at an interest rate of 0.20% p.a. and maturity of 15 years to provide long-term financing for leasing agricultural vehicles;
- a loan of Tenge 12,000,000 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.10% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC at the rate of 0.15% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years to finance projects under the State Industrial and Innovation Development Program of the Republic of Kazakhstan:
- a loan of Tenge 12,537,182 thousand has been received at the rate of 0.05% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years. The borrowed funds are intended to lend the Holding's subsidiary DBK JSC at the rate of 0.08% p.a. and with maturity in 20 years for on-lending DBK-Leasing JSC at an interest rate of 0.10% p.a. and maturity of 20 years to renovate the passenger car fleet of "Passenger transportation" JSC.

During 2019, the Holding Company stated income of Tenge 53,079,743 thousand as government grants (2018: Tenge 26,291,607 thousand), recognised in other operating income in the separate statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income. The Holding Company used estimated market interest rates of 8.73% – 10.90% (2018: 8.48% – 8.76% p.a.) to measure the fair value of the loans received from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan at initial recognition by discounting their future contractual cash flows.

The interest expense of Tenge 13,224,923 thousand incurred during 2019 (in 2018: Tenge 9,565,182 thousand) relates to the loan from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (Note 14).

# 12 Share capital

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge, except for number of shares)	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Authorised ordinary shares Authorised, but not issued	5,000,086,550 (4,082,867,838)	5,000,086,550 (4,153,867,838)
Total issued shares paid	917,218,712	846,218,712
Par value per share, in Tenge	1,000	1,000
Issued share capital paid	917,218,712	846,218,712

Each ordinary share carries one vote.

During 2019, the Holding Company issued shares for the total nominal amount of Tenge 71,000,000 thousand (during 2018 no shares have been issued by the Holding Company).

In July 2019 the Holding Company has declared and paid dividends in the amount of Tenge 1,485,163 thousand (during 2018 no dividends declared). Dividends per ordinary share are Tenge 1.67.

### 13 Interest income calculated using the effective interest method

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
Loans to subsidiaries	38,622,523	30,270,765
Investment securities measured at amortised cost	11,336,508	917,808
Cash and cash equivalents	321,096	4 400 570
Deposits	-	1,192,578
Total interest income calculated using the effective interest method	50,280,127	32,381,151

Interest income for the year ended 31 December 2019 includes Tenge 36,696,914 thousand (2018: Tenge 28,583,024 thousand) resulting from amortisation of discount which has arisen upon initial recognition of loans to subsidiaries (Note 8).

# 14 Interest expense

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
Debt securities issued Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	35,927,846 13,224,923	20,547,293 9,565,182
Total interest expense	49,152,769	30,112,475

Interest expense on debt securities issued for the year ended 31 December 2019 includes Tenge 23,980,172 thousand (2018: Tenge 19,576,149 thousand) resulting from amortisation of discount which has arisen upon initial recognition of debt securities issued (Note 10).

Interest expense on loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the year ended 31 December 2019 includes Tenge 12,923,033 thousand (2018: Tenge 9,321,324 thousand), resulting from amortisation of discount which has arisen upon initial recognition of loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (Note 11).

# 15 Dividend income

HCSBK JSC       7,936,551         BD JSC       3,336,714         KMC JSC       1,385,764	7,675,971 1,014,182
KMC JSC 1,385,764	1 014 182
	.,0,.0_
	1,108,575
KCM JSC 1,102,490	882,282
DBK JSC 973,142	1,428,367
KE JSC 475,666	639,389
IFK JSC 337,201	-
QTV JSC 54,142	
KPPF LLP 4,164	7,140
DAMU JSC -	1,234,153
Total dividend income 15,605,834	13,990,059
16 Impairment (loss)/recovery on financial assets, net	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge) 2019	2018
Recovery/(provision) of impairment on loans to subsidiaries (Note 8) 279,079	(226,834)
Provision of impairment on investment securities (Note 7) (312,591)	-
Recovery of impairment on deposits -	380,738
Total impairment (loss)/recovery on financial assets, net (33,512)	153,904
17 Other operating (expense)/income, net	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge) 2019	2018
Loss at initial recognition of loans to subsidiaries at a market-below interest	_
and the second of the second o	(56,738,188)
Government grant utilisation (Notes 10 and 11) 55,584,941	57,462,015
Gain on early repayment of loans to subsidiaries (Note 8)	1,164,494
Loss on early repayment of loans from the Government of the Republic of	
Kazakhstan (Note 11)	(1,178,761)
Other 39,721	33,449
Total other operating (expense)/income, net (420,057)	743,009
18 Other financial expense	
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge) 2019	2018
Commission for the opening of the cover line for Export Credit Guarantee	
Scheme* (3,677,184)	-
Interest cost from lease liability (56,162)	-
Total recovery of impairment on financial assets, net (3,733,346)	

During 2019, the Holding Company paid the commission in the amount of Tenge 3,677,184 thousand (equivalent to USD 9,600,000) in accordance with the framework agreement with Euler Hermes Aktiengsellschaft on behalf of the Federal Republic of Germany for reopening of the Export Credit Guarantee Scheme cover policy with respect to the Republic of Kazakhstan.

# 19 Administrative expenses

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
Staff costs	2,018,745	1,905,342
Administrative expense of the Board of Directors	384,483	337,756
Consulting services	366,550	671,627
Outsourcing costs	362,372	293,145
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	277,865	41,494
Other costs related to property, plant and equipment	242,927	102,733
Staff training, conferences	226,927	87,048
Charity and sponsorship*	192,433	789,374
Advertising and marketing services	153,712	45,812
Amortisation of software and other intangible assets	137,914	130,229
Business trip expenses	119,114	78,198
Communication services	82,728	63,892
Insurance costs	45,529	37,195
Operating lease expense	38,747	257,682
Costs for stationary printing products, branding products	25,602	24,606
Other	159,541	165,658
Total administrative expenses	4,835,189	5,031,791

<sup>\*</sup>During 2019 the Holding Company has provided sponsorship to "Kazakhstan Fund of Economic Initiatives" Corporate Fund in the amount of Tenge 150,000 thousand (2018: Tenge 150,000 thousand) with a purpose of organization of Astana Economic Forum 2019. During 2018 the Holding Company has provided sponsorship to "Fund to support the development of ballet art" in the amount of Tenge 559,900 thousand with a purpose to purchase of 20 apartments for employees of ballet academy.

# 20 Income tax benefit

Income tax expense recorded in profit or loss for the period comprises the following:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
Change in deferred tax liabilities due to origination and reversal of temporary differences	119,646	22,177
Total income tax benefit	119,646	22,177

The income tax rate applicable to the Holding Company's 2019 income is 20% (2018: 20%). For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Holding Company had offset the taxes payable against the withholding tax on interest income on bank deposits to the amount of Tenge 48,171 thousand (2018: Tenge 207,893 thousand).

Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	%	2018	%
Loss before income tax	(4,680,648)	100	10,722,664	100
Income tax at the applicable tax rate	936,130	(20)	(2,144,533)	(20)
Non-taxable dividend income	3,121,167	67	2,798,012	26
Non-deductible expenses (commission of insurance				
limit)	(735,437)	(16)	-	-
Unrecognised deferred tax assets	(660,964)	(14)	(329,504)	(3)
Non-deductible loss of impairment	(2,545,401)	(54)	(204,683)	(2)
Non-taxable income on reversal of impairment	• • • •	` '	•	` ,
allowance	60,348	1	-	-
Non-deductible expense	(56,197)	(1)	(97,115)	(1)
Income tax benefit	119,646	(3)	22,177	-

Differences between IFRS and statutory taxation regulations in the Republic of Kazakhstan give rise to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. The tax loss carry-forwards expire in 2024-2029.

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 20% (2018: 20%).

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	1 January 2019	Recognised in profit or loss	Recognised in Equity	31 December 2019
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary				
differences				
Property, plant and equipment	111,250	(10,042)	-	101,208
Loans to subsidiaries	147,103,730	3,869,560	-	150,973,290
Investment securities	34,736	(587)	-	34,149
Debt securities issued	(148,428,620)	(3,735,713)	(3,944,261)	(156,108,594)
Other liabilities	57,041	(3,572)	-	53,469
Tax loss carried forward	1,508,126	660,964	-	2,169,090
Net deferred tax asset/(liability) before				
recoverability assessment	386,263	780,610	(3,944,261)	(2,777,388)
Recognised deferred tax asset	147,306,757	3,855,359	_	151,162,116
Recognised deferred tax liability	(148,428,620)	(3,735,713)	(3,944,261)	(156,108,594)
Net deferred income tax liability	(1,121,863)	119,646	(3,944,261)	(4,946,478)
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)		1 January 2018	Recognised in profit or loss	31 December 2018
Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) temporary	differences		-	
Property, plant and equipment	umerenees	3,525	107,725	111,250
Loans to subsidiaries		141,705,596	5,398,134	147,103,730
Investment securities		35,083	(347)	34,736
Debt securities issued		(142,951,848)	(5,476,772)	(148,428,620)
Other liabilities		63,604	(6,563)	57.041
Tax loss carried forward		1,178,622	329,504	1,508,126
Net deferred tax asset before recoverability a	assessment	34,582	351,681	386,263
Recognised deferred tax asset		141,807,808	5,498,949	147,306,757
Recognised deferred tax asset  Recognised deferred tax liability		(142,951,848)	(5,476,772)	(148,428,620)
Net deferred income tax liability		(1,144,040)	22,177	(1,121,863)

### 21 Financial risk management

**Risk management rules and procedures of the Holding Company.** The Holding Company's risk management policies aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks faced by the Holding Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to continuously monitor risk levels and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered and emerging best practice.

The risk management policy has the following objectives:

- to establish the effective comprehensive system and integrated process of risk management as an element of the Holding Company's governance, and continuously improve the Holding Company's activities based on the unified standardised approach to the risk management methods and procedures;
- to ensure that the Holding Company assumes acceptable risks adequate to the scale of its activities;
- to define the retaining ability and provide for efficient management of accepted risks;
- to identify risks in a timely manner:
- to mitigate losses and reduce operating costs to cover potential losses.

**Risk management structure.** The risk management structure of the Holding Company comprises risk management at several levels with engagement of the following bodies and structural units of the Holding Company: Board of Directors, Management Board, Committee of Asset and Liability Management, Risk Management Department, Internal Audit Function, collective bodies and other structural units.

Board of Directors. The first level of the risk management process is represented by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company. The Board of Directors takes full responsibility for proper operation of risk management control system, management of key risks and corporate risk management system. The Board of Directors defined the objectives of the Holding Company's activities and approves documents related to risk management.

Management Board. The second level of the risk management process is represented by the Management Board of the Holding Company. The Management Board is responsible for establishment of efficient risk management system and risk control structure to provide for compliance with the corporate policy requirement. The Management Board is liable for creation of "risk consciousness" culture which reflects risk management and risk management philosophy of the Holding Company. In addition, the Management Board also bears liability for implementation of the efficient risk management system where all employees have a clearly defined responsibility for risk management and are accountable for proper execution of their duties. The Management Board is authorised to execute a part of their functions in risk management area through establishment of respective committees.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is a standing advisory body of the Holding Company's Board of Directors, established to enhance efficiency and quality of work of the Board of Directors through preparing recommendations for the Board of Directors related to establishment of the effective control system over the Holding Company's financial and economic operations (including completeness and accuracy of the financial statements), monitoring of reliability and efficiency of the internal control and risk management systems and execution of the documents related to corporate governance, and control of independence of the external audit and internal audit function.

Risk Management Department. The third level of the risk management process is represented by the Risk Management Department which objectives include overall risk management and legal compliance monitoring, as well as control over implementation of general principles and methods of identification, assessment, management of and reporting on financial and non-financial risks.

Internal Audit Function. In course of risk management, the Internal Audit Function of the Holding Company audits risk management procedures and risk assessment methods and develops proposals aimed at improvement of efficiency of risk management procedures. The Internal Audit provides reports on risk management system to the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and performs other functions in accordance with the approved regulatory documents.

Structural units. One of the key elements in the risk management structure is structural units of the Holding Company which are represented by each employee. Structural units (risk owners) play the key role in the risk management process. The Holding Company's employees address and manage risks on a daily basis, and control the potential effect of risk on their business. Structural units are responsible for implementation of the risk management action plan, timely identification and communication of major risk in their business areas and development of proposals for risk management to be included into the action plan.

**Credit risk.** The Holding Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the lending and other transactions with counterparties of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries giving rise to financial assets.

The Holding Company's maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the separate statement of financial position. For guarantees and commitments to extend credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment. No collateral and other credit enhancements exist as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

The Holding Company controls credit risk by placing limits on transactions with counterparties, including limits on the level of risk accepted in relation to one counteragent, or groups of counteragents, based on the Regulations for Management of Financial Assets and Liabilities of Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company.

None of financial assets are past due as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

*Credit risk concentration.* The Holding Company's cash balances at 31 December 2019 were placed with 3 banks (31 December 2018: 3 banks). That does not expose the Holding Company to significant credit concentration risk.

Concentration of Loans to subsidiaries is disclosed in Note 8.

Currency risk. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Holding Company has no significant foreign currency exposure.

**Market risk** is the risk of changes in Holding Company's income or cost of its portfolios due to changes in market prices, including foreign exchange and interest rates. The Holding Company's market risk consists of currency risk, interest rate risk. Market risks arise from open positions in currency, interest rates and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements.

The market risk management objectives are to manage and control that exposure to market risk does not fall out of the acceptable parameters, ensuring the optimisation of profitability obtained for risk accepted.

Overall responsibility for the market risk management is imposed on the Management Board, headed by the Chairman of the Management Board. Management Board set limits with respect to the market risk based on recommendations received from Risk Management Department.

The Holding Company manages market risk through setting limits on open positions with respect to the value of portfolio on individual financial instruments, terms of changes in interest rates, currency position, limits for losses, and regular monitoring of their observance, the results of which are reviewed and approved by the Management Board.

**Interest rate risk** is the risk of changes in the Holding Company's income or cost of its portfolios of financial instruments due to changes in interest rates.

The Holding Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its separate financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes, but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.

Interest rate risk arises, when available or forecasted assets with definite maturity are higher or lower upon value compared to available or forecasted liabilities with similar maturity. Interest rate risk management is based on the principles of full coverage of costs: resulting interest income should cover costs for raising and placement of funds and provide for net profit generation and competitiveness.

The table below summarises the Holding Company's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December 2019. The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Holding Company's financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing or maturity dates.

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6 months	From 6 to 12 months	More than 1 year	Interest-free	Total
At 31 December 2019 Total financial assets Total financial liabilities	19,852,830 (57,756)	3,117,800 (10,953,584)	15,918,012 (15,093,614)	680,552,733 (681,932,230)	28,337 (481,611)	719,469,712 (708,518,795)
Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2019	19,795,074	(7,835,784)	824,398	(1,379,497)	(453,274)	10,950,917

The table below summarises the Holding Company's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December 2018. The table presents the aggregated amounts of the Holding Company's financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual interest repricing or maturity dates.

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6 months	From 6 to 12 months	More than 1 year	Interest- free	Total
At 31 December 2018 Total financial assets Total financial liabilities	2,687,822 (57,756)	3,893,449 (267,378)	5,737,224 (12,451)	565,526,469 (558,952,870)	3,135 (286,930)	577,848,099 (559,577,385)
Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2018	2,630,066	3,626,071	5,724,773	6,573,599	(283,795)	18,270,714

An analysis of the sensitivity of profit or loss (net of taxes) to changes in interest rates (repricing risk), based on a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves and restated positions of interest-bearing assets and liabilities existing as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
100 bp parallel rise	109,008	52,161 (52,161)
100 bp parallel fall	(109,008)	(52

The Holding Company monitors interest rates for its financial instruments. The table below summarises effective interest rates at the respective reporting date.

In weighted-average % p.a.	31 December 2019	31 December 2018
Assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	6.23%	6.18%
Investment securities	9.55%	9.58%
Loans to subsidiaries	7.76%	7.50%
Liabilities		
Debt securities issued	7.75%	7.32%
Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	9.48%	9.29%

**Liquidity.** Contractual payments under the financial liabilities exceed their carrying amount by the sum of non-amortised discount of future interest expenses. As at 31 December 2019 the contractual payments on the issued debt securities and loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan amount to Tenge 1,279,770,066 thousand and Tenge 386,868,747 thousand (31 December 2018: Tenge 1,137,587,088 thousand and Tenge 291,898,079 thousand) respectively, including nominal value of Tenge 1,098,795,125 thousand and Tenge 383,515,906 thousand (31 December 2018: Tenge 1,012,044,047 thousand and nominal value of Tenge 288,969,907 thousand) respectively, and total future interest of Tenge 180,974,941 thousand and Tenge 3,352,840 thousand (31 December 2018: Tenge 125,543,041 thousand and Tenge 2,928,172 thousand) payable on annual basis.

**Capital management.** The Holding Company treats capital as net assets attributable to the Holding Company's owners. The Holding Company is not subject to the regulatory capital requirements.

**Legal risks.** The Holding Company is exposed to legal risk, when there is the probability of occurrence of an adverse legislation change, incorrect legislation application, non-observance of internal documents, when decisions are made, untimely notification of state authorised bodies (in different situations: when documents are prepared, when legally significant actions are committed, etc.).

The Holding Company manages legal risk through monitoring of legislation changes, monitoring of orders implementation, professional development of legal department employees, engagement of consultants.

# 22 Contingencies

**Legal proceedings.** From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Holding Company and its subsidiaries may be received. On the basis of its own estimates and internal professional advice, management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims, and accordingly no provision has been made in these separate financial statements.

**Tax contingencies.** The taxation system in Kazakhstan is relatively new and is characterised by frequent changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions, which are often unclear, contradictory and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities, including opinions with respect to IFRS treatment of revenues, expenses and other items in the separate financial statements. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by various levels of authorities, which have the authority to impose severe fines and interest charges. A tax year generally remains open for review by the tax authorities for five subsequent calendar years; however, under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open longer.

These circumstances may create tax risks in Kazakhstan that are more significant than in other countries. Management of the Holding Company believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based on its interpretations of applicable tax legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on these separate financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their interpretations, could be significant.

Credit related commitments. On December 2017, a loan facility agreement has been concluded between DBK JSC and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Limited, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd., Deutsche Bank AG, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank in order to finance the investment project PetroKazakhstan Oil Product LLC. The Holding Company has concluded the financial guarantee agreement as a security for DBK JSC's loan facility agreement for the amount not exceeding USD 225,000 thousand (equivalent to Tenge 86,082,750 thousand). In February 2018 under the loan facility agreement DBK JSC has received loans for the total amount of USD 225,000 thousand with maturity in 2030 and interest rates 4.67% and 4.94% p.a. At the reporting date, the management of the Holding Company accrued expected credit loss for the amount of Tenge 144,086 thousand, using the following assumptions: the factor of guarantee conversion is 1.0, the credit rating of the counterparty is "BBB-" and the corresponding indicators of PD (0.26%) and LGD (70%).

In December 2018, AstanaGaz KMG JSC issued bonds to finance the construction of the Saryarka gas pipeline for the total amount of 85,000,000 thousand tenge, with a maturity of 2033 and a coupon rate of 10.00%. The Holding Company has concluded the financial guarantee agreement as a security for 50% obligations of AstanaGaz KMG JSC in an amount not exceeding Tenge 42,500,000 thousand of the principal and Tenge 14,067,500 thousand of the total coupon payments. At the reporting date, the management of the Holding Company accrued expected credit loss for the amount of Tenge 226,003 thousand, using the following assumptions: the factor of guarantee conversion is 1.0, the credit rating of the counterparty is "BB" and the corresponding indicators of PD (0.75%) and LGD (55.49%).

During 2019 there were no changes in credit related commitments.

# 23 Related party transactions

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control, or one party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

The Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan has control over the Holding Company since it is the ultimate controlling party. The Holding Company has decided to apply an exemption from disclosure of individually insignificant transactions and outstanding balances with state owned entities.

The balances as at 31 December 2019 for balances with related parties are as follows:

			Transactions wit	th state owned
_		Subsidiaries		entities
		Average		Average
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Amount	interest rate	Amount	interest rate
Cash and cash equivalents	-	-	27,790	-
Investment in subsidiaries	995,368,400	-	-	-
Gross loans to subsidiaries	552,542,215	0.15%	-	-
Impairment allowance on loans to subsidiaries	(5,314,828)	-	-	-
Investment securities	145,565,565	9.67%	13,511,072	7.95%
Current income tax prepayment	-	-	2,014,231	-
Debt securities issued	(16,085,067)	9.57%	(513,346,844)	0.11%
Loans from the Government of the Republic of	,		,	
Kazakhstan	-	-	(177,605,273)	0.09%
Lease liabilities presented in other liabilities	(551,036)	-	-	-
Deferred tax liability	-	-	(4,946,478)	-
Financial guarantees issued presented in other			( , , , ,	
liabilities*	(144,086)	_	(226,003)	-
Other liabilities	(53,179)	-	(113,983)	-

<sup>\*</sup> During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Holding Company issued financial guarantees on behalf of 2 related parties, DBK JSC and AstanaGaz KMG JSC, with the guarantee amounts of Tenge 56,567,500 thousand and USD 225,000 thousand, respectively. The obligation arises from the moment of default, which occurs in case of partial or complete non-fulfilment by DBK JSC and AstanaGaz KMG JSC of the obligation to pay the principal and interest/coupon in accordance with the payment schedules. The guarantees have maturity from 2030 to 2033. All guarantees are noninterest bearing and not collateralised. During 2019 the Holding Company has received guarantee commission income in the amount of Tenge 37,250 thousand, which is recognised as a part of other operating income.

The income and expense items on the related party transactions for 2019 were as follows:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Tı Subsidiaries	ransactions with state owned entities
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	48,885,053	1,395,074
Interest expense	(850,667)	(48,302,102)
Dividend income	15,605,834	-
Other operating (expense)/income, net	(56,044,719)	55,584,941
Interest cost from lease liability	(56,162)	-
Reversal of Impairment on financial guaranties	13,244	9,417
Administrative expenses	(242,547)	(757,642)
Income tax benefit	-	119,646
Reversal of impairment on loans to subsidiaries	279,079	-
Impairment loss on debt securities purchased of subsidiaries	(312,591)	-

The balances as at 31 December 2018 for balances with related parties are as follows:

		Subsidiaries	Transactions wi	th state owned entities
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Amount	Average interest rate	Amount	Average interest rate
Cash and cash equivalents	-	-	1,675	-
Investments in subsidiaries	891,478,834	-	-	-
Investment securities	77,746,676	9.58%	9,161,104	8.45%
Gross loans to subsidiaries	488,312,399	0.15%	-	-
Impairment allowance on loans to subsidiaries	(5,593,907)	-	-	-
Current income tax prepayment	-	-	1,682,421	-
Debt securities issued	-	-	(435,423,764)	0.11%
Loans from the Government of the Republic of			,	
Kazakhstan	-	-	(123,866,691)	0.09%
Deferred income tax liability	-	-	(1,121,863)	-
Financial guarantees issued presented in			• • • • •	
other liabilities*	(157,330)	-	(235,420)	-
Other liabilities	(64,493)	-	(82,468)	-

\* During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Holding Company issued financial guarantees on behalf of 2 related parties, DBK JSC and AstanaGaz KMG JSC, with the guarantee amounts of Tenge 56,567,500 thousand and USD 225,000 thousand, respectively. The obligation arises from the moment of default, which occurs in case of partial or complete non-fulfilment by DBK JSC and AstanaGaz KMG JSC of the obligation to pay the principal and interest/coupon in accordance with the payment schedules. The guarantees have maturity from 2030 to 2033. All guarantees are noninterest bearing and not collateralised. During 2018 the Holding Company has received guarantee commission income in the amount of Tenge 37,250 thousand, which is recognised as a part of other operating income.

The income and expense items on the related party transactions for 2018 were as follows:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Subsidiaries	Transactions with state owned entities
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method	30,317,461	871,133
Interest expense	-	(30,112,475)
Dividend income	13,990,059	-
Other operating (expense)/income, net	(55,573,694)	56,283,254
Provision for impairment on loans to subsidiaries	(226,834)	-
Impairment losses on financial guarantees	(157,330)	(235,420)
Loss on sales of shares in investment in subsidiary	(403,327)	-
Administrative expenses	(182,714)	(583,992)
Income tax benefit	-	22,177
Total remuneration to the members of the Management Board and Board of	of Directors is as follows	:
(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	2019	2018
Members of the Board of Directors	319,255	289,412
Members of the Management Board	282,042	251,148
Total	601,297	540,560

The members of the Management Board receive remuneration not exceeding the established limits in accordance with the Decree of the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan No. 1266.

#### 24 Fair value

**Determination of fair values.** A number of the Holding Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and for disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Holding Company uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Holding Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2019

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Level 2	Total fair value	Total carrying amount
Assets Cash and cash equivalents Investment securities Loans to subsidiaries	7,819,807	7,819,807	7,819,807
	150,050,537	150,050,537	158,795,100
	424,926,005	424,926,005	547,227,387
Liabilities Debt securities issued Loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan	406,255,658	406,255,658	530,431,911
	168,394,628	168,394,628	177,605,273

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements - 31 December 2019

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised as at 31 December 2018:

(In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge)	Level 2	Total fair value	Total carrying amount
Acceto			
Assets Cash and cash equivalents	2,596,755	2,596,755	2,596,755
Investment securities	, ,	, ,	, ,
	86,880,111	86,880,111	86,907,780
Loans to subsidiaries	444,193,543	444,193,543	482,718,492
Liabilities			
Debt securities issued	382,869,575	382,869,575	435,423,764
Loans from the Government of the Republic of	• •	, ,	, ,
Kazakhstan	133,617,190	133,617,190	123,866,691

The following assumptions are used by management to estimate the fair values of financial instruments:

- discount rates of 10.17 10.76% p.a. are used for discounting future cash flows from loans to subsidiaries (2018: 8.04 8.63% p.a.);
- discount rates of 10.17 10.25% p.a. are used for discounting future cash flows from debt securities issued (2018: 8.04 – 8.63% p.a.);
- discount rates of 10.17 10.76% p.a. are used for discounting future cash flows from loans from the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2018: 8.04 8.44% p.a.);
- quoted market prices are used for determination of fair value of investment securities.

# 25 Analysis by segment

The Holding Company's operations are highly integrated and constitute a single business segment for the purposes of IFRS 8 Segment Reporting. The Holding Company's assets are concentrated in the Republic of Kazakhstan, and the Holding Company's revenues are derived from operations in, and connected with, the Republic of Kazakhstan. The Chief Operating Decision Maker, in the case of the Holding Company, the Chairman of the Management Board, only receives and reviews the information on the Holding Company as a whole.

#### 26 Subsequent events

#### COVID-19 subsequent events

As a result of global coronavirus outbreak, in 2020 the government of the Republic of Kazakhstan has declared a state of emergency on the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Additionally, as a result of the meeting of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC), oil prices fell significantly during 2020. Management is in a process of the assessment of the potential impact of these events of the Holding Company's 2020 operations. The investments in subsidiaries potentially could be under the impairment risk.

As the Holding Company is the main operator of the Government incorporated to assist and develop business in the Republic of Kazakhstan, it has taken the following steps to support business entities during the state of emergency with a view to provide effective assistance and support to the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan:

- To ensure enhanced economic activity in the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Government has adopted the state programs Employment Road Map and Business Road Map -2025 providing for financing of up to Tenge 1,000,000,000 thousand, which objectives include employment, creating enabling environments for development of communities infrastructure. In particular, to provide package support through the Holding Company's subsidiaries: DBK JSC extending provision of low interest loans, KCM JSC extending investments through equity participation in dedicated projects under the program, KE JSC providing support through insurance.
- One of the Holding Company's subsidiary Damu EDF JSC is currently engaged in work related to expansion of guarantee product line, providing for factoring, leasing guarantees, bank guarantees, etc. Damu EDF JSC adopted a simplified approval process of changes related to the SME loans restructuring, including those for subsidies and guarantees under the State Programs - Business Road Map-2025, Economy of Simple Things and Nurly Zher, in order to streamline the decision-making procedures during the state of emergency.
- Furthermore, during the state of emergency, subsidiaries of the affordable housing segment of the Holding Company HCSBK JSC, KMC JSC and BD JSC have deferred the payment period for the next 3 months. These payments include principal and interest on all leases related to residential and non-residential real estates and loans to customers, without fines and penalties.
- During the state of emergency, IFK JSC has also stopped charging rent for SME on real estate and deferred the payment period for 3 months, without fines and penalties.

However, the wider effects of the virus and the decrease in the oil price and their effect on the Kazakhstan economy, including any resulting impact on the Holding Company's financial results in 2020, are not possible to determine at the date of approval of these separate financial statements.

# Baiterek National Managing Holding Joint Stock Company Notes to the Separate Financial Statements - 31 December 2019

#### Other subsequent events

In April 2020, in accordance with the order of the Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan - A.U. Mamin dated 14 February 2020, No. 17-4 / B-47, the Holding issued the coupon bonds for the amount of Tenge 180,000,000 thousand with a coupon rate of 4% p.a. and maturity in 2 years. The funds were transferred to BD JSC to finance the housing construction by purchasing its bonds on the organized securities market at the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC with a coupon rate of 4.05% and maturity in 2 years.

In April 2020, in accordance with the Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 8 April 2020 "On Updating the Republican Budget 2020" No. 299, the authorized capital of the Holding Company was increased by Tenge 8,000,000 thousand with a subsequent increase in the authorized capital of DBK JSC with a subsequent increase of capital of DBK-Leasing JSC for leasing of buses, tractors and combines.

In January 2020, the Holding Company acquired Transtelecom JSC bonds in the amount of Tenge 10,000,000 thousand with an interest rate of 11.50% and a maturity in 12 years.

As part of the implementation of the task set in the Address of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan Kassym-Zhomart Tokayev dated 2 September 2019, to reduce the number of housing programme operators, on 28 February 2020, the Board of Directors of the Holding Company made a preliminary decision to merge its subsidiaries – "BD" JSC and "KMC" JSC.